OA 8-20.85

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 20 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHELLE M. KELSON,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 85,246

District Court of Appeal

First District - No.: 93-03003

RUSSELL M. KELSON,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

GORDON EDWARD WELCH, ESQUIRE 201 E. Government Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 (904) 432-7723 Florida Bar No. 405310 ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

The parties were married in July, 1976 and were divorced in June, 1990 in Milton, Florida. (R-7). The final judgment of dissolution incorporated a marital settlement agreement made by the parties on April 11, 1990 which provided that Mrs. Kelson would receive, as an equitable division of marital property pursuant to the Uniform Services Former Spouses Protection Act (USFSPA), Title 10 U.S.C. 1408 et seq., a share of Major Kelson's disposable military retired or retainer pay upon his retirement from the U. S. Marine Corps. (R-9, 10). The parties agreed that Mrs. Kelson's monthly share of the retired pay would be calculated as follows: one-half times the fraction created by the number of years the parties were married until their separation while the husband was on active duty (13.21 years), as the numerator, and the total number of years accrued "when the plan vests at time of spouse's retirement," as the denominator. (R-9,10). The agreement defined "disposable military retired/retainer pay" as "the Husband's gross military retired/retainer pay less only those amounts properly withheld for federal, state, and local income taxes." (R-11). The agreement also provided that "the sharing of the disposable military retired/retainer pay shall continue until the death of either party," that Major Kelson began "service creditable in determining his eligibility for retired/retainer pay with the United States Marine Corps on September 7, 1975," and that he was on active duty at the time of the agreement. (R-11).

Approximately two years later, on September 30, 1992, Major Kelson elected to leave active duty and receive certain benefits pursuant to the Voluntary Separation Incentive program under 10 U.S.C. §1175 (hereinafter referred to as "VSI"). (T-38). At that time, Major Kelson had served sixteen and a half years on active duty. (T-41). Prior to Major Kelson's resignation

on June 15, 1992, Mrs. Kelson filed a motion entitled "Motion to Amend and/or Modify Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage" alleging that, at the time of their agreement, the parties mutually and mistakenly believed Major Kelson would remain on active duty for at least twenty years and receive retired pay but, as a result of a reduction of the size of the military services, he had decided to retire early. (R-23). Mrs. Kelson asked the trial court to amend and/or modify the final judgment to include such information necessary to qualify it as a Qualified Domestic Relations Order as defined by 26 U.S.C §401 so she would receive a share of the VSI benefits elected by Major Kelson. (R-24).

At the final hearing on July 13, 1993, Major Kelson moved to dismiss Mrs. Kelson's motion, arguing as Florida courts do not have jurisdiction to modify property settlement agreements, and as the parties' agreement awarding Mrs. Kelson an interest in his military retirement pay was a property settlement agreement, the court did not have jurisdiction to modify the agreement and award her an interest in his VSI benefits. (R-70). The trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss, ruling that Mrs. Kelson's motion stated a cause of action and that "the issue for the court to determine is whether or not what [Major Kelson] is getting is retired and/or retainer pay." (T-14,15).

Mrs. Kelson testified that at the time of the divorce, neither party was aware of any VSI program and they understood that Major Kelson could not retire with less than twenty years of active duty and receive retirement pay. (T-27). She testified that sometime after the dissolution, Major Kelson told her he was going to volunteer to retire early and that she would receive no share of his retirement benefits. (T-27). Mrs. Kelson testified that if he had remained on active duty for twenty years and retired at his rank of major, he would have received annual military

retirement pay of \$22,435 for life and which, less her 33% share under the agreement, would have left him gross annual pay of \$15,031. (T-34). She further testified he would receive \$18,509 a year for approximately thirty-four years under the VSI program. (T-34).

Major Kelson testified that when he elected to leave the service under the VSI program in September, 1992, he had served sixteen and a half years on active duty. (T-41). He said that he had already received one lump sum payment of \$18,193.59 and would receive a annual payment in that same amount for thirty-two years. (T-41,42). He testified that the formula used in computing his benefits under VSI was:

2.5% of the separating member's final monthly basic pay multiplied by 12, and then multiplied again by the member's years of active duty service. These payments are made each year for two times the number of years of service. (T-43).

Major Kelson testified he volunteered to leave the military because he believed he might be passed over for promotion a second time because of the kind of plane he was flying and then be required by the military to separate from the service. (T-50). He weighed that consideration against taking orders to Japan for three years and being separated from his children. (T-51). He also said that because he was currently qualified as a DC9 pilot, he believed that was "a pretty good ticket to get out with to try to earn civilian money." (T-51). He admitted he had not been told he would be discharged if he did not take VSI. (T-51).

Major Kelson testified that under the VSI program, he was entitled to medical military benefits for only 120 days following discharge, commissary and exchange privileges for only two years, that he would not get cost-of-living increases and would have to remain on inactive reserves throughout the period he received VSI benefits. (T-51,52). He acknowledged he could be invited to return to active duty and complete twenty years and receive regular retirement

benefits although he would have to reimburse whatever VSI payments he had received. (T-54). Finally, his Certificate of Release From Active Duty, Form #DD214, states that he "resident [sic] to accept V.S.I." (R-105).

Chief Daniel Thomas O'Connor, an enlisted man responsible for the administration of personnel and pay related matters at Major Kelson's command, testified that Major Kelson would receive no further VSI payments after thirty-two years. (T-64). He also testified that if Major Kelson had retired after twenty years, he would have had no reserve obligation or be subject to recall, unlike the VSI program where he is obligated to remain on either active or inactive reserves and be subject to recall. (T-66,67).

Major Kelson offered the telephone deposition of John Early Hairston, II, the Head of the Separation Section, Headquarters, United States Marine Corps, Arlington, Virginia. (R-104, p. 5). Mr. Hairston testified it was his section's policy not to treat VSI as retirement pay. (R-104, p. 7). He acknowledged that VSI statute does not contain any language indicating VSI benefits are not subject to equitable division by state courts. (R-104, p. 12). He further acknowledged that military retired and retainer pay is "based on ... pretty much the same formula as the VSI program" (R-104, p. 13) and that VSI pay and retired pay are based upon the same premise, that is, the number of years the member has served on active duty. (R-104, p. 14).

Major Kelson introduced the telephone deposition of Chuck M. Stinger, Assistant General Counsel of the Defense Finance and Accounting Center. (R-103, p. 6). Mr. Stinger testified the VSI program is:

...a voluntary separation incentive program that Congress enacted in 1991 along with another program to try to reduce the number of military members on active duty. It's an incentive program to draw down the total population of the military service...

(R-103, p. 8). He further testified that VSI benefits are paid from a separate fund (R-103, p. 9) and that the formula used in computing benefits under VSI is two and a half percent of the member's monthly base pay times twelve times the number of years of active service, which amount is paid for twice the number of years of service. (R-103, p. 17). He testified that the formula used for computing monthly retired pay is two and a half percent of the member's monthly base pay times the number of years of active duty not to exceed thirty years (R-103, p. 16) and a member must serve a minimum of twenty years to receive retired pay. (R-103, p. 14). He stated that both retired pay and VSI pay are taxable (R-103, p. 14), that any receipt of disability pay is offset against both VSI and retired pay (R-15, p. 15), and that the same board of actuaries administer the funds for retired pay and VSI pay. (R-103, p. 18). He testified it is the position of the legal staff of the Defense Finance Accounting Service that VSI is not considered to be a retirement or an asset that is divisible by a court and the authority for such position is:

...basically along the same line of cases that the Supreme Court has entered in the McCarty decision and its predecessors...And to summarize, it is basically that unless-if it's a federal benefit - that unless Congress has authorized it to be treated by the state in a particular manner, than [sic] the states are precluded by the Supremacy Clause in treating it as an asset of the military union [sic] or what have you."

(R-103, p. 19).

Finally, contained in the record is a Department of Defense pamphlet entitled "Voluntary Separation Incentive, VSI/SSB" which states that "the treatment of VSI or SSB is not dictated

by federal law. It will be up to the state courts to rule on the divisibility of these incentives." (R-60).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court stated:

Certainly from [Mrs. Kelson's] side of the table...it's an equitable argument; and [Major Kelson's] side of the table is more of a legal argument on the jurisdictional grounds. What-the real issue is whether or not the VSI is in effect retired and/or retainer pay. (T-87).

The trial found that the VSI program differed from the retired pay program as follows: VSI payments and after 32 years whereas retired pay is for life; VSI installments unpaid at the member's death are payable to the member's beneficiaries whereas retired pay ends at the time death unless the member has elected survivor benefit coverage; the right to receive VSI payments are not transferrable; medical care privileges and commissary privileges are limited to 120 days and two years respectively under the VSI program whereas they are for life in the retired pay program; there are no cost of living adjustments to VSI pay but there are to retired pay; there is a reserve requirement in the VSI program but not in the retired pay program; the member is subject to recall to active duty in the VSI program but not the retired pay program. (A-1-2,3,4). Noting also that VSI statute does not state that VSI pay be treated in the same manner as retired pay, the trial court concluded that VSI pay is not encompassed within the definition of retired pay in the USFSPA. (A-1-4).

Based upon these differences, the trial court denied Mrs. Kelson's motion and said:

The Court therefore reluctantly finds that VSI is not retired/retainer pay as defined under Federal law. Furthermore, the Court lacks jurisdiction to modify the Agreement to provide for a division of the former husband's VSI as opposed to Retired/Retainer Pay.

(A-1-4).

Mrs. Kelson timely filed a Motion for Rehearing in which she argued that the parties had clearly intended she share in any funds paid to Major Kelson upon his separation from the military, that he had effectively elected to retire early and receive VSI benefits in lieu of regular retired pay, that the retired pay and VSI programs were substantially similar and that it would inequitable to deny her a share of the VSI payments in light of the parties' agreement. (R-85,86,87). The trial court denied the motion, finding it did not raise any issues not previously considered by it. (R-89).

Mrs. Kelson timely appealed to the First District Court of Appeal on September 16, 1993. (R-90). After considering the briefs of the parties, the First District Court affirmed the trial court and denied Mrs. Kelson's appeal on December 7, 1994. The First District held that federal law preempts state law with regard to the divisibility of military benefits and that as the USFSPA only expressly authorizes state courts to divide military retired pay, state courts do not have the authority to divide VSI benefits. Kelson v. Kelson, 647 So.2d 959, 961 (A-2-3). The First District further held that VSI benefits are not the same as or equivalent to retired pay and, therefore, the marital settlement agreement could not be interpreted as encompassing the VSI benefits under the term "retired/retainer pay." Id. at 962 (A-2-4).

Mrs. Kelson timely filed in the First District Court a Motion for Rehearing, a Motion for Rehearing En Banc, and a Suggestion of Direct Conflict or, in the Alternative, a Question of Great Public Importance, all of which were denied on January 26, 1995. (A-3). Mrs. Kelson's Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on February 24, 1995. (A-4). In her jurisdiction brief, Mrs. Kelson argued that the First District decision expressly and directly conflicts with Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994),

wherein the Fifth District Court of Appeals decided that a former wife was entitled to share in VSI benefits elected by her former husband after the parties' divorce but before he attained twenty years of military service pursuant to the parties' marital settlement agreement that she receive a share of his military retired pay upon retirement. Accordingly, Mrs. Kelson requested this Court grant discretionary review pursuant to Art. V § 3(b)(3) Fla. Const. (1980) and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). This Court granted discretionary review on May 12, 1995.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mrs. Kelson is entitled to and should receive a share of the VSI pay received by Major Kelson because the parties had agreed in their marital settlement agreement she would receive a share of his retired pay upon his retirement from the military. Major Kelson did not receive such retired pay **only** because he subsequently voluntarily resigned from the military before he was entitled to receive retired pay, and received VSI pay in exchange for such early retirement.

First, the First District Court wrongly concluded that, under McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S. Ct. 2728, 69 L.Ed.2d 989 (1981), and Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581 (1989), 109 S. Ct. 2023, 104 L.Ed.2d 675, state courts are preempted from dividing VSI benefits. With the enactment of the Uniform Services Former Spouse Protection Act (USFSPA), Title 10 U.S.C. 1408, Congress nullified McCarty and made clear that former spouses are to share in service members' retirement benefits. Contrary to the interpretation of the First District, Mansell shows that since Congress did not positively exclude VSI benefits from division by state courts, VSI benefits are divisible by state courts. Even if McCarty was not entirely nullified by the USFSPA, the division of VSI benefits would not cause grave harm to clear and substantial federal interests and, therefore, state courts are not preempted from dividing such benefits.

Secondly, the First District Court mischaracterized VSI benefits as compensation for future lost wages and the separate property of Major Kelson. A review of VSI pay, retired pay, and involuntary separation pay reveals that VSI pay is the equivalent of retired pay, or at least is paid in lieu of retired pay, and should be divided between the parties in the same fashion as they had agreed to divide retired pay.

Third, the decision of the First District Court conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District Court in Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), and Abernethy directly supports Mrs. Kelson's contention that she should share in the VSI benefits elected by Major Kelson.

Further authority for Mrs. Kelson's position is the recent decision of the Supreme Court of Montana in Blair v. Blair, 1995 WL 30240 (Mont.)(A-5), in which that Court awarded the former wife a share of Special Separation Benefits (SSB) under 10 U.S.C. 1174a, pursuant to the parties' prior agreement that she receive a share of her former husband's retired pay upon his retirement from the military. SSB benefits are essentially the same as VSI benefits except they are paid in one lump sum. This Court should join the Montana Supreme Court in holding that military voluntary separation incentives under the VSI and SSB programs are early retirement benefits and are marital property subject to division by state courts.

Lastly, the decision under consideration at bar is at odds with a fair and reasonable interpretation of the parties' agreement and has resulted in a truly inequitable and unjust outcome. When they divorced, the parties fully expected Major Kelson would remain on active duty and complete twenty years of service and receive retired pay in which they agreed Mrs. Kelson would share. Because the VSI program did not then exist, if Major Kelson had voluntarily left active duty before serving twenty years, he would not have been entitled to any pay, whether retired or otherwise, and, consequently, there would have been nothing in which Mrs. Kelson would be entitled to share. The decision of the First District Court effectively permits Major Kelson to unilaterally divest Mrs. Kelson of her rightful share of the retired pay he would have received had he remained on active duty for twenty years simply by volunteering

to retire early and receive payments under the VSI program which was enacted several years after the parties divorced. Accordingly, this Court should quash the decision of the First District below with directions that on remand the trial court should be ordered to award Mrs. Kelson a share of Major Kelson's VSI benefits according to the formula agreed upon by the parties in their marital settlement agreement.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. WHETHER A FORMER WIFE IS ENTITLED TO RECEIVE A SHARE OF HER FORMER HUSBAND'S MILITARY VSI BENEFITS WHERE THE PARTIES HAD PREVIOUSLY AGREED TO EQUITABLY DIVIDE THE FORMER HUSBAND'S MILITARY RETIRED PAY BUT THE FORMER HUSBAND SUBSEQUENTLY ELECTED TO RETIRE EARLY AND RECEIVE VSI BENEFITS RATHER THAN REMAIN ON ACTIVE DUTY AND RECEIVE RETIRED PAY.

#### A. INTRODUCTION.

When the parties divorced in June, 1990, they agreed Mrs. Kelson would receive, as an equitable division of marital property, a share of Major Kelson's retired pay after he had completed twenty years of active duty in the Marine Corps and began to receive retired pay. (R-9). The parties agreed to divide the retired pay according to a formula which essentially entitled Mrs. Kelson to a share of the retired pay earned by Major Kelson during the marriage. (R-9,10). After completing over 16 years of service, Major Kelson voluntarily separated from the military in September, 1992, pursuant to the VSI program, and received the first of 32 annual payments of \$18,193.59 to which he was entitled under that program. (T-41, 42). Mrs. Kelson filed a "Motion to Amend and/or Modify Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage" essentially requesting that the trial court determine whether she was entitled to receive a share of the VSI benefits pursuant to the parties' agreement and, if so, enforce her right to such share. (R-23,24). After hearing, the trial court entered an order finding that VSI benefits are not retired pay under federal law, that it did not have jurisdiction to modify the parties' agreement to divide the VSI benefits between them and thus denied Mrs. Kelson's motion. Mrs. Kelson appealed to the First District Court of Appeals and that Court affirmed the trial court and denied the appeal. Kelson v. Kelson, 647 So.2d 959, 962 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (A-2-4).

Voluntary separation incentives are payments offered to military service personnel to induce such personnel to leave the military on a voluntary basis rather than run the risk of being involuntarily separated due to reductions in the size of the military services. H. R. Rep. 665, 101st Cong. 2d Sess, reprinted in 1991 U.S. Code & Cong. & Admin. News at 1112. There were two types of voluntary separation incentive benefits authorized by federal law at the time of Major Kelson's resignation: Special Separation Benefits (SSB) and Voluntary Separation Incentive (VSI) benefits. 10 U.S.C. §1174a, known as the Special Separation Benefits program, enacted by Congress simultaneously with the Voluntary Separation Incentive program, 10 U.S.C. §1175, in December, 1991, provides:

#### § 1174a. Special separation benefits programs

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