FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 6 1995

MICHELLE M. KELSON,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SORBERAND CONTRACTOR

vs.

RUSSELL M. KELSON,

CASE NO. 85,246
District Court of Appeal
First District - No. 93-03003

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District,
State of Florida

KATHRYN L. RUNCO, ESQUIRE Michael J. Griffith, P.A. 304 East Government Street Post Office Box 848 Pensacola, Florida 32501 (904) 433-9922 Florida Bar Number: 781680 Attorney for Respondent

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

It is apparent that Ms. Kelson is requesting modification, not enforcement, of the property settlement agreement based merely on changed circumstances. Under Florida law, such modification is improper, and Ms. Kelson's request should be rejected.

As previously indicated, this appeal also presents complex issues of federal preemption. In addition to affirming the sanctity of the property settlement agreement, the First District

Court of Appeal correctly held that federal law preempts state courts from dividing VSI benefits as marital property in a dissolution of marriage proceeding. Kelson, supra at 961.

Accordingly, even if the Kelson's property settlement agreement were not so explicit, the Florida courts have no jurisdiction to include VSI benefits as marital property subject to equitable distribution. In fact, the federal statutes governing the VSI program make clear that VSI benefits are not transferrable by the recipient, except by testamentary devise.¹ Clearly, Congress did not intend that separation benefits received under the VSI program be subject to division by state courts in dissolution proceedings.

The First District correctly determined that under federal law only those benefits specifically identified in the Uniformed Services Former Spouses Protection Act ["USFSPA"], Title 10 U.S.C. 1408 et seq., could be divided by state courts in dissolution actions. Finding that VSI benefits were not included within those specifically identified in USFSPA, the court then concluded that VSI benefits were not subject to division by state courts. This Court should affirm the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal.

¹Since the prohibition against transferability of VSI benefits allows testamentary devise of those benefits, additional questions are presented if Petitioner is granted an interest therein. For instance, may Ms. Kelson will her interest in Maj. Kelson's VSI benefits? If she predeceases him, does her interest then revert to Maj. Kelson or may her heirs then share in VSI payments which are otherwise non-transferrable?

II. VSI BENEFITS ARE NOT THE "EQUIVALENT" OF MILITARY RETIREMENT PAY UNDER THE PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES

The disposition of this case should be governed by the express terms of the property settlement agreement entered into between Mr. and Ms. Kelson and ratified by court order in 1990. It is undisputed that the agreement speaks specifically to retirement pay and makes no mention of VSI benefits; the VSI program under 10 U.S.C. Sec. 1175 was not in existence at the time, and therefore could not have been contemplated by the parties. Nevertheless, Petitioner argues that VSI benefits should be considered the equivalent of retirement pay, or "in lieu of" retirement pay, and that the agreement should be construed to include the VSI payments within its scope. As both the trial court and the First District correctly concluded, there are significant differences between VSI benefits and retirement pay; the terms cannot be rendered synonymous for purposes of construing the property settlement agreement between the parties.

First, as the District Court explained, separation benefits and retirement pay are fundamentally different in that the former is intended to constitute replacement of future lost earnings, while the latter represents payment for past services. Kelson, supra at 961-962. In addition to this philosophical distinction, there are other more specific and practical differences between VSI benefits and military retirement pay that render it impractical and inappropriate to construe them as synonymous for purposes of enforcing the parties' property settlement agreement.

Indeed, under the facts of this case it would be inequitable to require a division of VSI benefits under the agreement, where that agreement specifically and expressly contemplated only a division of Maj. Kelson's retirement pay.

First, entitlement to military retirement pay only accrues after the service member has achieved 20 years of active military service. Here, at the time of the Kelson's divorce, Maj. Kelson had served only fourteen and one-half years. Accordingly, neither party had any quarantee of ever receiving any retirement benefits; death or involuntary separation from the armed services would have defeated Maj. Kelson's entitlement to retirement pay.2 In fact, the record reflects Maj. Kelson's testimony that he decided to participate in the VSI program at least in part because of his fear that he would be involuntarily terminated as a part of ongoing military force reductions [T:50]; it appears to be undisputed that had this event occurred, Ms. Kelson would have been entitled to no portion of any involuntary separation benefits. In addition, the agreement between the parties contained no provision requiring Maj. Kelson to guarantee Ms. Kelson's receipt of the agreed-to percentage of his anticipated retirement pay; accordingly, under that agreement (drafted by Ms. Kelson's attorney), had Maj. Kelson failed to receive retirement pay, Ms. Kelson would have received nothing. Clearly, Ms. Kelson's expectation of receiving a portion of Maj. Kelson's

²Significantly, retirement pay, unlike VSI benefits, terminate upon the death of the service member

military retirement pay was only that -- an expectation.

Further, VSI payments are made annually, for a specific term of years, while retirement payments are made monthly, for the life of the armed services member. This distinction again reflects the inequity of interpreting the parties' property settlement agreement to include VSI payments, since the parties agreed to monthly percentage payments according to a specific formula for dividing Maj. Kelson's retirement pay. Re:9, 10] Further, the agreement calls for the percentage payments to be made for life, since retirement pay continues throughout the life of the recipient [R:11]; however, Maj. Kelson's VSI benefits will terminate after 32 years. Should Maj. Kelson's life span exceed 32 years post-receipt of VSI benefits, will he then be required to continue making payments to Ms. Kelson, or will that portion of the property settlement agreement be revised by the court as well?

Additionally, the benefits under VSI and retirement pay themselves are different. Under VSI, the member is entitled to medical benefits for only 120 days after discharge, while a retired military member receives military medical and dental benefits for life. Similarly, VSI recipients are entitled to only two years (post-discharge) of commissary privileges, while retired members retain those privileges for life. Retirement pay is subject to cost of living allowances; VSI benefits are fixed.

³The formula itself, moreover, is consistent not with the method of calculating VSI benefits but with the statutory method of calculating retirement pay.

These distinctions demonstrate that the VSI recipient enjoys far less financial security than the retired military member, since medical and dental insurance must be obtained, commissary privileges are lost, and the amount of the VSI payments will remain fixed regardless of the effects of inflation. Again, the formula in the parties' property settlement agreement, based on the expectation of receiving retirement pay, is simply inapplicable to these markedly different financial conditions.

Another critical distinction between retirement pay and VSI benefits is that the VSI recipient, unlike the retired service member, remains subject to recall to active duty. distinction again reflects the fundamental difference between separation and retirement pay; the VSI payments are based in part on the recipient's obligation to remain available to perform future services, an obligation not imposed on the retired service If the VSI recipient does return to active duty and member. becomes entitled to receive military retirement pay, the VSI benefits previously received must be repaid. Here, Ms. Kelson seeks to obtain a percentage (based on a different benefit) of Maj. Kelson's annual VSI payment, notwithstanding the fact that Maj. Kelson could be recalled into active service and subsequently receive the retirement pay for which Ms. Kelson originally bargained. One then wonders whether Ms. Kelson would refund that portion of VSI benefits which she received.

Clearly, the relief Petitioner requests is more complicated than simply substituting the term "VSI benefits" for "retirement

pay" in the property settlement agreement. In fact, it would be impossible to insert VSI benefits within the scope of the agreement without re-writing other portions of the agreement to achieve consistency.

Even if the instant case were as simple as mere substitution, such a modification would be improper under Florida law where the agreement itself expressly contemplated only a division of retirement pay. If Congress, subsequent to the Kelsons' divorce, had chosen to substitute the VSI program for retirement benefits, Ms. Kelson's argument might be given some This is not the case. The military retirement program, the subject of the Kelsons' property settlement agreement, remains in effect. Ms. Kelson now simply wishes to share Maj. Kelson's entitlement to an entirely different benefit. Petitioner claims that the issue of whether VSI benefits are the equivalent of military retirement pay should be controlled by the Fifth District's decision in Abernethy v. Fishkin, 638 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). It is true that in Abernethy, the court opined that VSI benefits should be treated in the same manner as military retirement pay. However, that opinion was not critical to the outcome of the case; in Abernethy, the former husband had personally guaranteed the former wife's receipt of the stated percentage of his retirement pay. Id. at 163. In other words, whether the former husband received retirement pay; failed to receive retirement pay due to involuntary termination or disability; or failed to receive retirement pay due to his

election of VSI benefits, the same amount would have been paid to the former wife out of his own funds. Since the source of the funds from which the former wife was to be paid was irrelevant, the nature of the VSI payments (vis-a-vis retirement pay) was likewise irrelevant: "the trial court was authorized to enforce the agreement and the final judgment by requiring the husband to make the agreed payments from his personal funds regardless of their source". Id. Here, there is no such guarantee by Maj. Kelson. Instead, in the instant case in order for the Petitioner to be entitled to a portion of his VSI benefits, the Court must either interpret the agreement as implicitly encompassing VSI benefits (even though the VSI program was implemented following the parties' divorce) and modify or amend portions of the agreement for consistency, or modify or amend the agreement itself to specifically include VSI payments.

To the extent that there is a conflict between the holding of the First District in the instant case and the dicta contained in the <u>Abernethy</u> opinion, this Court should disapprove of the language in <u>Abernethy</u> regarding the nature of VSI payments and military retirement pay.

⁴In addition, the Fifth District's dicta concerning the similarity between VSI benefits and military retirement pay appears largely based on the mere facts that both are reduced by the amount of disability payments received, and both are administered by the Retirement Board of Actuaries. The lengthy analysis contained in the First District's opinion in the instant case presents a more compelling argument that the two are fundamentally different. Of course, since the former husband in Abernethy had personally guaranteed the agreed-upon payments, such a lengthy analysis by the Fifth District was unnecessary.

The Petitioner also asserts that this Court should adopt the holding of the Supreme Court of Montana in <u>Blair v. Blair</u>, 1995 WL 302420 (March 2, 1995), where Special Separation Benefits ["SSB"] received pursuant to 10 U.S.C. Sec. 1174a were determined to be subject to division under a property settlement agreement providing for the division of the former spouse's military retirement pay. The Respondent does not dispute that, except for the fact that <u>Blair</u> involved SSB payments and the instant case concerns VSI benefits, the two cases are factually similar. The Respondent does, however, contest the Petitioner's representation that "SSB benefits are essentially the same as VSI benefits except they [SSB payments] are paid in one lump sum." Initial Brief of Respondent at p. 11.5

First, the SSB program was created by 10 U.S.C. Sec. 1174a, and the VSI program is administered under 10 U.S.C. Sec. 1175.

Although the two sections are somewhat similar, if (as Petitioner suggests) SSB and VSI are identical, why did Congress deem it necessary to enact separate statutes instead of, for instance, enacting a single statute containing alternative payment provisions? Further, unlike VSI benefits, there is no prohibition in Section 1174a against the recipient transferring his or her entitlement to SSB. The two programs are administered through separate funds, and benefits are calculated differently.

⁵Likewise, Respondent contests the Petitioner's representation that the <u>Blair</u> decision held that "VSI and SSB programs ... are marital property subject to division by state courts." <u>Blair</u> did not address VSI benefits.

For example, SSB benefits are calculated as 15 percent of the product of the member's years of active service plus 12 times the monthly base pay the member received at the time of his discharge, while annual VSI payments represent 2.5 percent of the member's monthly base pay at the time of discharge multiplied by 12, then multiplied by the member's years of active service. Thus, while the benefit calculations do both take into account the member's years of active service, the calculations themselves are quite different.

Perhaps the most significant distinction between VSI and SSB benefits is the fact that, while both programs require the recipient to remain subject to reserve or active duty status, VSI recipients who receive basic pay/DT pay while serving in the reserves are required to forfeit their VSI payments for that [R:60] SSB participants are not required to forfeit any period. portion of their pay for future active or reserve service. [R:60]. Further, SSB participants must only agree to serve a minimum of three years, while VSI recipients must agree to serve for the duration of the payment period (32 years in Maj. Kelson's [R:59] These distinctions reflect that VSI benefits, unlike SSB, are meant to compensate in part for the recipient's agreement to remain available for recall to active or reserve status; not only does the VSI recipient agree to serve for a much longer period, once recalled, the basic pay takes the place of the VSI benefits, which must be forfeited. Clearly, as the First District reasoned, VSI benefits constitute "separation" pay, not

compensation for past services, and there is therefore no justification for awarding a former spouse a portion of those benefits. Kelson, supra at 961.

Finally, the fact that payments under the SSB program are made in one lump sum while VSI payments are made annually is more than a technical distinction. VSI annual benefits, payable for a term equal to twice the number of years served (32 years, in Maj. Kelson's case), and non-transferrable under the statute, evidence the Congressional intent to provide separated members under VSI with a continuing benefit to offset the loss of income from a military career and cushion the return to civilian life. See Kelson, supra at 961-962. Conversely, the lump-sum payments called for under the SSB program, once made, simply constitute cash assets of the beneficiary, and are freely transferrable. Thus, many of the compelling reasons for treating VSI benefits as non-marital property are absent.

Finally, even if this Court deems the SSB and VSI programs similar, it should simply decline to follow the Supreme Court of Montana's holding in <u>Blair</u>. The court in <u>Blair</u> focused primarily on SSB payments as "early retirement benefits", and the opinion does not address the specific terms of the property settlement agreement at issue and how those terms might be affected if the SSB lump sum payment were divided between the parties in lieu of the former spouse's military retirement pay. As noted above, this Court should decline the Petitioner's invitation to re-write the terms of the Kelsons' agreement so as to include VSI

benefits, a revision which would also affect specifically agreed to terms regarding the timing, amount, and duration of payments.

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